
This is a sample complaint for a case where the servicer has failed to properly credit mortgage payments, promptly respond to a payoff request, or properly respond to a QWR regarding the payment dispute. This complaint is based on payment application problems during and after a ch 13 bankruptcy, so the Debtor filed a motion to reopen the bankruptcy case (which requires no filing fee when the motion to reopen is to enforce the discharge injunction) and filed an Adversary Proceeding in the bankruptcy court.  However, the same template (minus the bankruptcy related claims) could be used for a payment application dispute case filed in federal district court with purely RESPA and TILA claims.  

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT


FOR THE ______ DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
	IN RE: 

JANE DOE AND JOHN DOE, 

             Debtors.

__________________________________
	)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	CASE NO. _____________
CHAPTER 13

JUDGE ________


	JANE DOE AND JOHN DOE,
             Plaintiffs, 

      vs. 

fannie mae and 

SETERUS, iNC.,
            Defendants. 
	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
)
)
	ADVERSARY NO. ___________


ADVERSARY COMPLAINT
      
Plaintiff JOHN DOE (hereinafter referred to as “Mr. Doe”) and JANE DOE (hereinafter referred to as “Mrs. Doe”) (collectively referred to as “Plaintiffs,” “Debtors,” or “the Does”), by and through counsel, files their Complaint against the Defendants, FANNIE MAE and SETERUS, INC. (hereinafter referred to as “Seterus”), respectfully showing the Court the following: 

I.  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. Mr. and Mrs. Doe file this adversary proceeding for Defendants’ violations of the bankruptcy discharge pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 524 with respect to a mortgage loan secured by their home, which they occupy as their principal residence.  Mr. Doe also claims violations of the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”) and Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”).  Pursuant to their claims, Mr. and Mrs. Doe seek a court order compelling Defendants to collect and credit all plan payments pursuant to the terms of the confirmed chapter 13 plan, and conform their records to reflect that the mortgage is current.  Mr. Doe and Mrs. Doe also seek to recover actual, compensatory, general, exemplary, and punitive damages, and attorney’s fees, costs and expenses of litigation, and any further relief the court may deem appropriate.  

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 1334 in that this proceeding arises in and is related to the above-captioned Chapter 13 case under Title 11 and concerns property of the Debtors in that case. This Court has both personal and subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1334 and 157(b)(2).  

3. This Court also has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

4. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1409.  

5. Pursuant to Rule 7004(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, the Defendants may be served by first class mail, postage prepaid, to their corporate officers and registered agents for service.  
III.  PARTIES
6. Plaintiff Mr. Doe is a citizen and resident of ___ County, Michigan.  Mr. Doe is also a debtor under 11 U.S.C. § 1301 et seq., Case No. _______.
7. Plaintiff Mrs. Doe is a citizen and resident of _____ County, Michigan.  Mrs. Doe is also a debtor under 11 U.S.C. § 1301 et seq., Case No. ______.
8. Defendant Seterus is a mortgage lender and servicing company with its principal office in North Carolina, and registered as a mortgage lender with the Michigan Department of Banking and Finance. At all times relevant hereto, Seterus was in the business of servicing and purchasing residential mortgage loans in Michigan. Seterus may be served with process by first class mail to its registered agent, ______________, and to its corporate officer, _________.
9. Defendant Fannie Mae is a government-sponsored enterprise chartered by Congress as a private shareholder company.  At all times relevant to this action, Fannie Mae has regularly engaged in the business of underwriting, funding, and purchasing residential mortgage loans.  Fannie Mae does substantial business in the state of Michigan and operates its Southeastern Regional office within this state and, therefore, is subject to the jurisdiction and venue of this Court.  Fannie Mae may be served with process by first class mail to its corporate officer, Timothy J. Mayopoulos, President & CEO, at its corporate headquarters at 3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20016-2892.
IV.  FACTS

10. Mr. and Mrs. Doe’s Chapter 13 case was commenced by the filing of a voluntary petition with the Clerk of this Court on April 20, 2010, Case No. _______.  

11. Fannie Mae, by and through its servicer, Lender Business Process Services (“LBPS”) filed a proof of claim in the Does’ bankruptcy case showing a pre-petition arrearage of $1,038.54. The claim was secured by Mr. and Mrs. Doe’s principal residence located at 1245 Apple Orchard Lane, Ann Arbor, Michigan 12345.

12. The Does’ Chapter 13 plan confirmed by the court on June 23, 2010, and later modified on November 7, 2013, included the secured claim of Defendant Fannie Mae, with the pre-petition arrearage to be cured through the plan payments, and the post-petition mortgage payments to be made directly to the creditor.

13. The Does made all Trustee payments in accordance with the bankruptcy plan.

14. The Does also made all post-petition mortgage payments to the servicing agent for Fannie Mae, LBPS and later Seterus.  
15. On August 1, 2011, the Chapter 13 Trustee issued check number 222123 in the amount of $43.12 to Fannie Mae to be applied to the pre-petition arrearage.  This payment is not reflected on the payment history for the mortgage account; on information and belief, this payment was never applied to the loan.
16. On or about October 27, 2014, the Chapter 13 Trustee issued check number 222789 in the amount of $899.85 to Fannie Mae to be applied to the pre-petition arrearage. However, Fannie Mae failed to claim these funds. Accordingly, the Trustee filed a Notice of Deposit of Unclaimed Funds on November 13, 2014, advising that she was remitting these funds to the registry of the court.  

17. On November 5, 2014, the Chapter 13 Trustee filed the Notice of Final Cure Payment pursuant to Rule 3002.1, stating that the amount of $1,038.54 required to cure the default had been paid in full.
18. Neither Fannie Mae nor its servicer, Seterus, filed any response to the Notice of Final Cure Payment. 

19. On December 24, 2014, the Court entered orders discharging the Debtors and closing the estate. 
20. Mr. and Mrs. Doe have continued to make their monthly mortgage payment every month since the date of the discharge.

21. Mr. Doe is a 72-year-old Vietnam War veteran.  

22. Mr. Doe has always made his monthly mortgage payments, and takes great pride in doing so. In order to be able to afford the monthly mortgage payments on his loan, Mr. Doe works a security job.  He longs to be able to retire, or at least reduce his hours to only a couple days per week, because the work is painful on his knees. His job is also becoming increasingly stressful because the work is now completely computer-based, and Mr. Doe is not very computer literate.  He is constantly fearful of being let go and replaced by a younger employee who can do the work more easily and who will likely work for a lower salary.  But without a lower monthly mortgage payment, Mr. Doe is dependent on remaining employed full-time.  Mr. and Mrs. Doe both receive fixed income from Social Security, but this income is insufficient to afford the existing mortgage payment, and they Doewould likely lose their home to foreclosure if Mr. Doe were to retire or lose his job. 

23. Following the bankruptcy discharge, Mr. Doe began applying with Fifth Third Mortgage Company for a refinance of his mortgage loan to obtain a lower interest rate and lower monthly payment. 
24. On or about January 28, 2015, Mr. Doe was pre-approved to refinance with a VA loan, with a fixed interest rate of 3.875% and an estimated total loan amount of $128,333.91, which included closing costs. The estimated monthly principal and interest payment for the loan was $626.85. With escrow for property taxes and homeowner’s insurance, the total estimated payment was $710.18.  The loan terms did not require private mortgage insurance or any type of mortgage insurance premium to be included in the monthly payments.

25. This estimated payment amount for the refinance was within an affordable mortgage-to-income ratio for Mr. and Mrs. Doe on their Social Security income alone, such that Mr. Doe would not have to continue working full-time in order to protect their home from foreclosure.  The refinance would have enabled Mr. Doe to retire or significantly reduce his hours, and alleviate the stress caused by his dependency on his job and fear of facing foreclosure if he were to be let go. 

26. In pre-approving Mr. Doe for the refinance, Fifth Third estimated the payoff to Seterus and/or Fannie Mae to be approximately $123,000.
27. On March 12, 2015, Seterus provided a payoff statement reflecting that the total estimated payoff good through March 20, 2015 was $127,338.83. This included: principal balance of $123,949.06; unpaid interest of $2,615.02; escrow overdraft of $500.72; BPO costs of $90.00; late charges of $2,601.20; bankruptcy legal fees of $50.00; pro rata MIP/PMI of $145.52; property inspection fees of $45.00; $12.00 recording cost for release documents; less a suspense balance of $2,669.69.  The payoff statement further reflected that the due date of the next payment was January 1, 2015. A true and correct copy of the March 12, 2015 payoff statement is attached hereto as Exhibit A.
28. The March 12, 2015 statement failed to provide an accurate payoff balance for the mortgage account.  This statement inaccurately reflected that the account was three months behind (due for January 2015 in mid-March 2015); failed to properly apply payments to reduce the principal balance, including bankruptcy trustee payments unclaimed with the court as well as post-petition payments and post-discharge payments; improperly inflated the amount of unpaid interest due; included improper late fees, BPO costs, bankruptcy legal fees, and property inspection fees; and failed to properly apply funds held in suspense to the mortgage payments claimed due. 
29. In order to approve Mr. Doe for the refinance, Fifth Third also required evidence that he had made his mortgage payments for the prior twelve (12) months. Mr. Doe did in fact make all monthly mortgage payments in the twelve months prior to his application for refinance. However, on information and belief, Seterus failed to provide payment history documents that reflected that Mr. Doe had made monthly payments for the prior twelve months and that Mr. Doe’s mortgage account was current.
30. As a result of Seterus’s provision of an inflated payoff statement, and failure to provide verification of Mr. Doe’s monthly payments for the prior twelve months, Mr. Doe’s mortgage refinance fell through.  Mr. and Mrs. Doe have accordingly had to continue making the higher mortgage payment to Seterus, and Mr. Doe has had to continue working.

31. On information and belief, Mr. Doe contacted Seterus and provided proof of his payments for January through March, 2015 in an effort to correct the inaccurate payoff statement.
32. Mr. Doe reapplied for a refinance with Fifth Third Mortgage Company. On or about April 27, 2015, he was again pre-approved, this time with a fixed interest rate of 3.5% and an estimated total loan amount of $129,450.65, which included closing costs. The estimated monthly principal and interest payment for the loan was $598.60. With escrow for property taxes and homeowner’s insurance, the total estimated payment was $688.73.  The loan terms did not require private mortgage insurance or any type of mortgage insurance premium to be included in the monthly payments.

33. This estimated payment amount for the refinance was again within an affordable mortgage-to-income ratio for Mr. and Mrs. Doe on their Social Security income alone, such that Mr. Doe would not have to continue working full-time in order to protect their home from foreclosure.  The refinance would have enabled Mr. Doe to retire or significantly reduce his hours, and alleviate the stress caused by his dependency on his job and fear of facing foreclosure if he were to be let go.
34. On May 20, 2015, Seterus provided a payoff statement reflecting that the total estimated payoff good through May 28, 2015 was $130,214.21. This included: principal balance of $123,949.06; unpaid interest of $4,239.91; BPO costs of $90.00; late charges of $2,627.42; bankruptcy legal fees of $50.00; property inspection fees of $60.00; “BANKRUPTCY – NO CONTACT!!” of $15.00; $12.00 recording cost for release documents; less a suspense balance of $829.18.  The payoff statement further reflected that the due date of the next payment was January 1, 2015. A true and correct copy of the May 20, 2015 payoff statement is attached hereto as Exhibit B.
35. The May 20, 2015 statement again failed to provide an accurate payoff balance for the mortgage account.  This statement inaccurately reflected that the account was five months behind (due for January 2015 through May 2015); failed to properly apply payments to reduce the principal balance, including bankruptcy trustee payments unclaimed with the court as well as post-petition payments and post-discharge payments; improperly inflated the amount of unpaid interest due; and included improper BPO costs, late fees, bankruptcy legal fees, property inspection fees, and fee for “BANKRUPTCY – NO CONTACT!!”. 

36. On information and belief, Mr. Doe contacted Seterus to provide proof of his payments through May 2015 in an effort to correct the inaccurate payoff statement.  Nonetheless, Seterus failed to provide Fifth Third an accurate payoff statement or verification that Mr. Doe had made his monthly payments for the past twelve months.

37. As a result of Seterus’s provision of an inflated payoff statement, and failure to provide verification of Mr. Doe’s monthly payments for the prior twelve months, Mr. Doe’s mortgage refinance could not be closed.  Mr. and Mrs. Doe have accordingly had to continue making the higher mortgage payment to Seterus, and Mr. Doe has had to continue working.

38. On information and belief, even if Seterus were to provide a correct payoff statement now, Mr. and Mrs. Doe would no longer be able to obtain a refinance on such favorable terms as those for which they were previously approved because the market interest rates have risen, and will continue to rise.

39. On June 23, 2015, counsel for Mr. Doe sent a letter by certified mail to Seterus disputing the inflated payoff amounts Seterus provided for the loan, as well as Seterus’s contention that the loan was in default.  The letter explained that Mr. Doe’s account was current at the time of discharge, pursuant to Trustee’s Notice of Final Cure and Fannie Mae’s failure to respond. Mr. Doe’s counsel also provided proof of Mr. Doe’s monthly mortgage payments since the date of discharge. The letter further enumerated several specific errors with respect to the application of payments to the account, including Seterus and Fannie Mae’s failure to claim the $899.85 held in the registry of the court. The letter also requested that Seterus correct the enumerated errors and provide an accurate payoff statement. Finally, in the event that Seterus did not correct the errors identified, the letter requested specific information concerning the servicing of the account, including: (1) a complete payment history; (2) an explanation as to how the monthly payments from September 10, 2014 through June 16, 2015 had been applied to the account; (3) a statement of whether the unclaimed funds had been claimed from the registry of the Court and applied to Mr. Doe’s account; and (4) a detailed explanation of the payoff for the account (including the amount of principal, claimed unpaid interest and dates purportedly incurred, and explanation of any fees or charges).  
40. Seterus received the June 23, 2015 letter on July 7, 2015. 

41. On July 14, 2015, Seterus sent a letter to the undersigned counsel acknowledging receipt of the letter and stating that Seterus was in the process of investigating the issues presented and would send a written explanation of the results upon completion of its research.

42. On July 16, 2015, Michael Montchateau sent a letter on behalf of Seterus to Mr. Doe directly advising that he was responding to the correspondence regarding the loan, was still in the process of reviewing the request, and needed additional time to complete his review. 

43. On August 7, 2015, Michael Montchateau of Seterus again wrote to Mr. Doe directly to advise that Seterus was still in the process of reviewing the request and needed additional time to complete the review.

44. On August 31, 2015, Seterus provided a payoff statement reflecting that the total estimated payoff good through September 10, 2015 was $126,587.29. This included: principal balance of $123,136.37; unpaid interest of $3,804.04; BPO costs of $90.00; bankruptcy legal fees of $50.00; pro rata MIP/PMI of $145.52; property inspection fees of $60.00; $12.00 recording cost for release documents; less a suspense balance of $525.64; and less “NO PPFN FILED” of $185.00.  The payoff statement further reflected that the due date of the next payment was May 1, 2015.

45. The August 31, 2015 statement failed to provide an accurate payoff balance for the mortgage account.  This statement inaccurately reflected that the account was four months behind (due for May 2015 through August 2015); failed to properly apply payments to reduce the principal balance, including bankruptcy trustee payments unclaimed with the court as well as post-petition payments and post-discharge payments; improperly inflated the amount of unpaid interest due; and included improper BPO costs, bankruptcy legal fees, and property inspection fees. 

46. No other correspondence was provided in response to the errors enumerated in the June 23, 2015 letter from Mr. Doe’s counsel.

47. On September 21, 2015, undersigned counsel called Seterus to inquire about the status of a response to the June 23, 2015 letter and spoke to representative Mark Allen. Mr. Allen confirmed that Seterus received the June 23, 2015 letter. Mr. Allen also confirmed that Seterus had not issued any written response to the letter, nor any additional letters stating that additional time would be needed to complete the research.  Mr. Allen suggested that counsel send another letter to Seterus to request a response.  
48. Seterus also made numerous attempts to collect the debt in violation of the confirmed plan and discharge injunction, including, but not limited to the following correspondence:

a. April 30, 2015 notice stating the loan was in default and demanding $6,809.82 by June 4, 2015 in order to prevent acceleration and possible foreclosure of the loan;

b. May 1, 2015 notice stating the loan was in default and demanding $8,023.02 by June 5, 2015 in order to prevent acceleration and possible foreclosure of the loan;

c. May 8, 2015 notice stating the loan was in default and demanding $8,038.02 by June 12, 2015 in order to prevent acceleration and possible foreclosure of the loan;

d. August 27, 2015 notice stating the loan was in default and demanding $4,342.16 by October 1, 2015 in order to prevent acceleration and possible foreclosure of the loan;

e. September 3, 2015 account statement including a “Delinquency Notice” listing payments due for May 1, 2015 through September 1, 2015, with a past due payment balance of $6,066.00;

f. September 25, 2015 notice stating the loan was in default and demanding $4,342.38 by October 30, 2015 in order to prevent acceleration and possible foreclosure of the loan;

g. October 7, 2015 notice advising that the loan is “seriously delinquent and is in default” and offering an option of a “mortgage release” to “avoid foreclosure.”  The letter explained that the “mortgage release” option would require Mr. Doe to transfer ownership of the property to Fannie Mae in exchange for a release from the mortgage payments.

49. In or around September 2015, Seterus also called Mr. Doe repeatedly concerning the alleged default on the account, and threatened to begin foreclosure proceedings in October 2015 if the account was not brought current.

50. Mr. Doe has continued to send his monthly payments every month while attempting to resolve this dispute.  

51. In October 2015, Seterus failed to apply Mr. Doe’s payment to the next contractual payment due, instead placing the payment in a suspense account.  Upon information and belief, Seterus applied this payment to late fees, property inspection fees, and other charges rather than applying it to the next contractual payment due.  
52. In November and December 2015, Seterus returned Mr. Doe’s monthly payments rather than applying them to the next contractual payments due. 

53. In December 2015, Seterus and Fannie Mae referred the account to a law firm to initiate foreclosure proceedings.  Mr. and Mrs. Doe received a letter from Aldridge Pite, LLC, informing them that the firm had been retained by Seterus and Fannie Mae.  

54. Seterus and Fannie Mae’s failure to accept and apply all payments, failure to conduct proper accounting to reflect the loan as being current at the time of bankruptcy discharge, and failure to provide accurate payoff statements and communication consistent with the current loan status at the time of discharge has caused significant economic and emotional injury to Mr. and Mrs. Doe. 

55. Mr. and Mrs. Doe have lost the opportunity to obtain a refinance that would have reduced their interest rate from 7% to 3.5%, would have reduced their principal and interest payment by $325.84 per month (from their current payment of $924.44 to $598.60 on the Fifth Third loan), and would have saved them $145.52 per month in private mortgage insurance premiums.  
56. Without the refinance, Mr. Doe has been unable to retire or reduce his hours and has had to continue working full-time, which has caused significant strain on his knees as well as emotional stress due to the frustrations of not being able to keep up with the technological demands of his job and constant fear of being let go. 

57. Mr. and Mrs. Doe have also suffered significant mental distress, anxiety, and frustration resulting from Seterus refusing to recognize that the account was current, even after the Does made multiple attempts to provide proof of payments, and providing varying statements showing different amounts owed, which made it difficult to determine which payments were actually missing in Seterus’s records.  The repeated notices of default, many issued on consecutive days or multiple times in the same month, caused Mr. and Mrs. Doe, who had had always paid the mortgage and had never faced foreclosure before, significant anxiety and fear that they were going to lose their home. The default notices and threats of foreclosure also caused Mr. Doe significant embarrassment among his family and strain on his relationships with his wife. Mr. Doe’s nerves were shot, and he began suffering headaches. 
V. COUNT ONE: 

CONTEMPT PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C. § 105 FOR VIOLATION OF 11 U.S.C. § 524
58.  Mr. Doe incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-__ above, as if set forth verbatim herein.
59. Fannie Mae, by and through its servicing agent, Seterus, failed to credit bankruptcy plan payments to Mr. Doe’s mortgage loan account made on August 1, 2011 in the amount of $15.11 and on November 1, 2011 in the amount of $28.01.

60. Fannie Mae, by and through its servicing agent, Seterus, failed to collect and credit a bankruptcy plan payment issued between October 27 and October 31, 2014 in the amount of $899.85, which funds were then remitted to the registry of the court. 
61. Fannie Mae, by and through its servicing agent, Seterus, has continually failed to collect the funds being held in the registry of the court, even after the June 23, 2015 certified mail notice by counsel requesting that Seterus and/or Fannie Mae make a request for said funds in order to apply them to Mr. Doe’s account.  
62. Fannie Mae and Seterus’s refusal to properly apply payments received from the Trustee and refusal to file a motion for the unclaimed funds constitute a willful failures to collect and credit the payments made under the confirmed plan, in violation of 11 U.S.C. § 524(i).

63. The Notice of Final Cure filed by the Chapter 13 Trustee asserted that all plan payments were disbursed to Fannie Mae, and that post-petition payments were made directly to Fannie Mae. 
64. Fannie Mae was obligated by Bankruptcy Rule 3002.1 to file a response within 21 days of the Notice of Final Cure if it disputed the fact that the pre-petition amount had been cured or that all post-petition payments had been made. Fannie Mae did not file any such response.

65. Accordingly, the Notice of Final Cure established that the required cure and post-petition amounts had been paid, and that the mortgage account was current at the time of the bankruptcy discharge. 

66. In addition, to the extent Defendants charged post-petition fees to the loan account during the bankruptcy without filing notice within 180 days, this constituted a violation of Rule 3002.1(c).

67. Fannie Mae and Seterus’s failure to reflect the account as being current at the time of discharge, failure to provide accurate payment history information reflecting the loan as being current, failure to provide accurate payoff statements for the loan, ongoing correspondence claiming that the loan was in default and threatening foreclosure, and collection calls threatening foreclosure if the alleged default was not paid, constituted multiple and ongoing violations of the bankruptcy discharge injunction pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 524.  These violations of the discharge injunction constituted contempt of a court order, punishable under 11 U.S.C. § 105. 
68. Mr. and Mrs. Doe have been damaged as a direct result of Fannie Mae and Seterus’s violations. They have lost the opportunity to significantly reduce their mortgage payments through refinance, suffered physical and psychological strain from Mr. Doe being unable to retire, and experienced significant emotional distress, anxiety, embarrassment, frustration and fear as a result of the ongoing claims of default and threats of foreclosure, in spite of numerous attempts to provide proof of payments.
69. Mr. and Mrs. Doe seek an order requiring Fannie Mae and Seterus to correct the accounting for the mortgage loan, applying all payments made pursuant to the bankruptcy plan, removing all unauthorized fees, and taking any other steps necessary to correctly reflect the account as being current at the time of the discharge and, due to their ongoing monthly payments, at present.

70. Mr. and Mrs. Doe seek actual, general, compensatory, and punitive damages as a result of the discharge violations and contempt, in addition to sanctions the court may deem appropriate.
71. The above-described conduct authorizes the imposition of punitive contempt damages pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 105, in that it shows that Defendants acted with actual knowledge or reckless disregard of the bankruptcy discharge, and Mr. and Mrs. Doe seek such damages.

VI. COUNT TWO:

VIOLATION OF THE TRUTH IN LENDING ACT
72.   Mr. Doe incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-__ above, as if set forth verbatim herein.

73. Fannie Mae became the owner of Mr. Doe’s mortgage loan through purchase, assignment, or other transfer.  

74. The mortgage loan is subject to TILA and to the remedies described in TILA at 15 U.S.C. §1640. 
75. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 1639f(a) and 12 C.F.R. § 1026.36(c), Fannie Mae and Seterus were required to promptly credit complete payments to the account. 

76. Fannie Mae and Seterus violated 15 U.S.C. 1639f(a) and 12 C.F.R. § 1026.36(c) by failing to promptly credit to the account the complete pre-petition payment it had received from the Trustee by October 31, 2014. 

77. Fannie Mae and Seterus violated 15 U.S.C. 1639f(a) and 12 C.F.R. § 1026.36(c) by failing to promptly credit to the complete mortgage payments it received in October, November, and December 2015. 
78. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1639g and 12 C.F.R. § 1026.36(c)(3), Fannie Mae and Seterus were required to provide an accurate payoff balance no more than 7 business days after the receipt of a written request for the balance from or on behalf of the borrower. 
79. As described above, Fannie Mae and Seterus have violated 15 U.S.C. §1639g on several occasions by providing inaccurate payoff balance and failing to provide an accurate payoff balance within 7 business days of a request.
80. As the owner of the mortgage loan, Fannie Mae is liable for the TILA violations of Seterus, its servicing agent. 

81. Mr. Doe was harmed by the above violations of TILA. The failure to provide an accurate payoff statement within a reasonable time caused Mr. Doe to lose the opportunity to refinance the mortgage to obtain a lower interest rate and monthly payment amount that would have allowed him to retire or significantly reduce his hours.  Mr. Doe incurred unnecessary time, inconvenience, frustration and expense in attempting to provide proof of his payments to correct the payoff statements. Mr. Doe also suffered physical, emotional, and mental distress resulting from receiving multiple payoff statements reflecting that the loan was in default and providing fluctuating amounts, in spite of his fruitless attempts to correct the error. The inaccurate payoff statements further caused Mr. Doe to have to continue to work a job that put strain on him both physically and mentally and caused significant worry, fear and anxiety that the home would be foreclosed.  
82. As a result of the above violations of TILA, Mr. Doe is entitled to actual damages, $4,000 in TILA statutory damages, attorney’s fees, and costs.
VII. COUNT THREE:

VIOLATION OF THE REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES ACT
83. Mr. Doe incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-__ above, as if set forth verbatim herein.   

84. On June 23, 2015, Mr. Doe, by and through counsel, sent a letter enumerating several errors and requesting information relating to the servicing of his mortgage loan.

85. The letter constituted a qualified written request to a servicer pursuant to RESPA at 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e). 

86. Seterus received the request for information on July 7, 2015.

87. Pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(2), Seterus was required to make appropriate corrections to the account and provide a written notice of such corrections within 30 business days of its receipt, with a limited extension of no more than 15 business days. Seterus failed to meet this requirement. Although Seterus notified Mr. Doe on August 7, 2015 that it was still in the process of researching the request and needed more time to complete it, no further response was provided within 15 business days of the August 7, 2015 notice.
88. Seterus’s failure to provide a timely response to the qualified written request indicates that Seterus does not have a system in place to timely research such requests and make the appropriate corrections. Seterus’s failure to acknowledge and respond to Mr. Doe’s qualified written request, and the fact that Seterus never claimed this occurrence was out of the ordinary in any communications with Mr. Doe’s counsel, including in a telephone communication where counsel inquired about the status of a response, demonstrates a policy and practice not to comply with the qualified written request provisions as set forth in RESPA at 12 U.S.C. § 2605.

89. Seterus’s pattern or practice of noncompliance with RESPA is further demonstrated by the high volume of consumer complaints filed against it.  Numerous lawsuits have been filed against Seterus asserting well-pled facts that demonstrate that Seterus has a pattern or practice of RESPA violations.  The Does are aware of at least six complaints filed against Seterus alleging failure to respond properly to a Qualified Written Request.  In addition, from January 10, 2014 through February 11, 2016, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) received 1,826 mortgage-related complaints against Seterus, 925 of which concerned loan servicing issues.  In a random sampling of 20 of these servicing-related consumer complaints, 12 of them mentioned Seterus refusing to correct an error the borrower had identified regarding the servicing of the mortgage loan.  
90. Mr. Doe has been harmed by Seterus’s failure to comply with RESPA by timely correcting the errors identified in his qualified written request, including time, inconvenience and expense incurred by counsel in following up by telephone and facsimile to request a response and filing a CFPB complaint.  As a result of Seterus’s failure to timely correct the errors, Mr. Doe also lost the opportunity of being able to refinance at a 3.5% interest rate, which would have significantly reduced the monthly mortgage payments, would have made it possible for Mr. Doe to retire or semi-retire and alleviate his current dependency on his job in order to avoid foreclosure.   Mr. Doe suffered significant stress, frustration, uncertainty, and fear of foreclosure as a result of this failure to timely correct the errors identified in the qualified written request.

91. Because of this conduct described above, Mr. Doe is entitled to actual damages, statutory damages, costs, and attorney’s fees. 

WHEREFORE, Mr. and Mrs. Doe respectfully pray for the following relief:

(1) Under Count One, an order requiring Fannie Mae and Seterus to correct the accounting for the mortgage loan, applying all payments made pursuant to the bankruptcy plan, removing all unauthorized fees, and taking any other steps necessary to correctly reflect the account as being current at the time of the discharge and ongoing, and awarding actual, general, compensatory, and punitive damages as a result of Seterus and Fannie Mae’s contempt of the discharge injunction, in addition to any sanctions the court may deem appropriate;
(2) Under Count Two, actual damages, $4,000 in TILA statutory damages, attorney’s fees, and costs;

(3) Under Count Three, actual damages, $2,000 in RESPA statutory damages, costs, and attorney’s fees;

(4) Judgment in favor of Mr. and Mrs. Doe awarding costs and litigation expenses;
(5) A trial by jury as provided by law; and
(6) Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

TRIAL BY JURY DEMANDED

Dated this ___ day of February, 2016.

/s/ J. Rachel Smith



J. Rachel Smith
Michigan Bar No. 123456
[Address block]
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